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Anited States District Court
Central District of California
RAINA GUSTAFSON, Case No. 2:14-cv-01453-ODW(EX)
Plaintiff,

V. ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND
EXPERIAN INFORMATION DENYING IN PART DEFENDANT
SOLUTIONS INC.; SYSTEMS & SYSTEMS & SERVICES
SERVICES TECHNOLOGIES, INC.; TECHNOLOGIES, INC.’S MOTION
HSBC BANK USA NATIONAL TO DISMISS [14]

ASSOCIATION; DOES 1-10, inclusive,
Defendants.

I.  INTRODUCTION
Plaintiff Raina Gustafson alleges ath Defendant Systems & Servics
Technologies, Inc. (“SST”) violated myriddderal and state debbllection laws by
allegedly “double reportinga debt. Gustafson comigs that SST inaccuratel
reported the same $705 ddhfice, though undedifferent names and with differer
account numbers, and failed to accuratetynduct an investigation after receivir

dispute notice from her and f@adant Experian Informain Solutions Inc. Various

federal-law provisions limit her ability to ipately enforce heclaims and preemp
portions of her state-law claims. But theut finds that she has adequately plea
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the remainder of her claims. The Court therefeBRANTS IN PART andDENIES
IN PART SST’s Motion to DismisS$. (ECF No. 14.)
. FACTUAL BACKGROUND
SST is a loan servicing and payrhgorocessing company, which repot
delinquent debts to credit bureaus and $uenisher” under the federal Fair Cred
Reporting Act (“FCRA”), 15 U.&. 88 1681-81x. (Compl. 1 2.)
On February 8, 2012, Guadson obtained a copy ber Experian credit repof

and discovered two entsefor an SST account.Id¢ § 8.) The first account read

“SST/CIGPFICORP, Account #10Xxxxxx; Status: chargedfdb705; Status Details
this account is scheduled to ¢ioime on record until March 2014.”"ld() The second
entry listed “SST/SYNOVUS, Accoun#403624000702xxx; Status: Closed $7
written off.” (Id.)

In February 2012, Seminber 2013, October 2018pvember 2013, Decembe

2013, and January 2014, Gustafson requesiad Experian investigate and remo
one of the SST accounts that wiegedly being double reportedld( 16.)

Gustafson obtained subsequent credit reports on October 22, 2013
November 11, 2013, and noted the same two SST entrigs.f( 10-11.) Thg
November 2013 report further stated ttieg credit grantor had verified the accurg
of the entries and would not engage in further investigation of Gustafson’s dis
(Id. 7 11.)

On February 26, 2014, Gustafson fildas action againseamong others, SST|
alleging violations of FCRA,; California’®osenthal Fair Debt Collection Practic
Act (“RFDCPA”), Cal. Civ.Code 88 1788-88.3; the fedkeifgair Debt Collection
Practices Act (“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. 88692-92p; and the California Consum

Credit Reporting Agencies Act (“CCCRAA"), CCiv. Code 881785.1-85.6. (ECH

No. 1.) On April 23, 2014, SST movead dismiss Gustafson’s Complaint und

! After carefully considering theapers filed in support of and apposition to the Motion, the Coul
deems the matter appropriate fl@cision without oral argument. Fed. R. Civ. P. 78; L.R. 7-15.
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Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6ECF No. 14.) Gustafson timely opposs
(ECF No. 17.) That Motion is nobefore the Court for decision.
lll. LEGAL STANDARD
A court may dismiss a complaint underl®a2(b)(6) for lack of a cognizabl
legal theory or insufficient facts pleadéal support an otherwise cognizable leg

theory. Balistreri v. Pacifica Police Dep/t901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990). T

survive a dismissal motion, a complairteal only satisfy the minimal notice pleadi
requirements of Rule 8(a)(2)—a shamd plain statement of the clainPorter v.
Jones 319 F.3d 483, 494 (9th Cir. 2003). Tlaetual “allegations must be enough
raise a right to relief abovihe speculative level.”Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly550
U.S. 544, 555 (2007). That is, the complaimust “contain sufficient factual matte
accepted as true, to state a claim teetrehat is plausible on its face.’Ashcroft v.
Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).

The determination whether a complaintifees the plausibility standard is

“context-specific task that requires theviesving court to draw on its judicial

experience and common senseld. at 679. A court is geerally limited to the
pleadings and must construk ‘éactual allegations set fdntin the complaint . . . a
true and . . . in the light most favorable” to the plaintifee v. City of L.A.250 F.3d
668, 688 (9th Cir. 2001). But a court neemt blindly accept conclusory allegation
unwarranted deductions of facdnd unreasonable inferenceSprewell v. Golden
State Warriors266 F.3d 979, 988 (9th Cir. 2001).

As a general rule, a court should fregiye leave to amend a complaint that K
been dismissed. Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(8ut a court may deny leave to amend wh
“the court determines thatahallegation of other factnsistent with the challenge
pleading could not possibly cure the deficiencythreiber Distrib. Co. v. Serv-We
Furniture Co, 806 F.2d 1393, 1401 (9th Cir.198&geLopez v. Smith203 F.3d
1122, 1127 (9th Cir. 2000).
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IV. DISCUSSION
The Court finds that some of Gustai&claims are preempted by federal |3

or limited to government enforcement. tBbhe Court finds that Gustafson proper

pleaded the remaining claims.
A. FCRA

FCRA prohibits, among other things, “furnishers of information” fr¢
providing information to a credit-reporting aggrhat they know or have to reason
believe is inaccurate about a consum#&s. U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(1)JA If a furnisher
receives notice of a consumer dispute firedit-report agency, FCRA obligates t
furnisher to conduct a reasonalhvestigation of the disped information. 8§ 1681s
2(b)(1)(A); Gorman v. Wolpoff & Abramson, LI.B»84 F.3d 1147, 1157 (9th Ci
2009) (interpreting the word “investigatiotd mean a “reasonable” investigation).

FCRA empowers an individual to brirg private right of action against ar
“person” who either willfully fails to complyvith the Act’s requirenents, 8 1681n, o
who negligently fails to do so, § 1681 But FCRA expressly limits a private actig
against a furnisher to only damages arisinggadwa furnisher’s failee to comply with
the investigation requirements triggergabn a credit-reporting-agency dispute noti
8 1681s-2(c)(1). Thatis, a consumer hasloibty to bring suit against a furnisher fq
failure to conduct a reasonable invediigm when the consumer disputes t
information directly with the furnisherld. Enforcement of, among others, § 1681
2(a) is left to federal and stateesgies and officials. § 1681s-2(d).

SST argues that a consumer has no pririgte of action against a furnisher ¢
information under 15 U.S.C§ 1681s-2(a), because enforcement is limited
government agencies. To the extent tBastafson alleges a § 1681s-2(b) failure-
investigate claim, SST asserts that the ree®mrclear that SST promptly investigate
Gustafson’s dispute and reported the itigasion’s results to the credit-reportin
agencies. Finally, SST contends th@RA empowers CIGPFI as a debt purchas
to separately report its accoun8ST attached a copy of Riaif's credit report to its
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Motion. SST claims that it reported then®yus debt as charged-off, whereasg it
reported the CIGPFI active cetition account as delinquent consistent with FCRA

Gustafson does not dispute that a @ievperson may not bring her own clajm
under § 1681s-2(a). Rather, she contetidg she brings her FCRA claim under
8 1681s-2(b) by alleging that SSdiled to properly invdgate her claim after being

informed of the dispute by Experian. Plalif also disputesSST's reliance upon her
credit report, arguing that SST failed to prdpa@uthenticate it and that the Court may
not consider it on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion. stlg, Gustafson claims that there is no
authority presented that permits a furnrishe double report the same debt in the
manner as SST did.

In her Complaint, Gustafson does notuadiy cite to any particular FCRA
sections when alleging that SST violatdte Act. But manyof her allegations
bespeak a violation of 8§ 1681s-2(a) that SST allegedly provided inaccurate
information to the credit-reporting agenci€ko the extent that Gustafson attemptg to
bring these claims, she has no private rigtdation to enforce them. § 1681s-2(c)(1).

Gustafson also alleges that SST “fdileo correct the errors [on her credit
report] and failed to undertake sufficiemvestigation upon being notified of the
errors [by Experian].” (Compl. § 18.)This allegation makes out a 8§ 1681s-2(b)
claim, which is subject to private enforcement by Gustafson.

A host of problems plague SST's angents that the record purportedly
establishes that SST properly investigatesl dispute. First, the Court must accept
Gustafson’s factual allegations as truettds stage—including that SST failed to
investigate the dispute. SST may not tuns fotion to Dismiss into a mini-trial of
Gustafson’s FCRA claim by arguing that Rl&f's factual allegations are “untrue.”

Second, even if the Court may consideustafson’s credit report under the
incorporation-by-reference doctrin&ST wholly failed to authenticate %it. SST

2 SST also violated Local Rule 5.2-1 by failing redact what appears to be Gustafson’s hdme
address. Continued failures ¢comply with any applicable rules will subject counsel to sanctions
within this Court’s discrgon under Local Rule 83-7.
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simply attached the repotd its Motion with no accompanying declaration from
person with personal knowledge of its amigand accuracy. The Court thus giv|
short shrift to the document.

Finally, SST misrepresents what the re@ays, further straining its credibility.

SST states, “Here, SST/Synovus reportdte debt as charged-off, where
SST/CICPFI §ic] reports the active collection account as delinquent.” (Mot. 7:2
But in reality, the credit report at Exhil#it establishes the exact opposite, which th
does absolutely nothing to bolster SSHrgument that FCRA entitled CIGPFI
report the debt it purchased fromrdvus as delinquent. (Mot. Ex. A.)

SST correctly points out that the dezgal Trade Commissin has interpreteq
FCRA to permit a furnisher teeport an account as both charged-off and delinque
both of those events occur.Statement of General Rzy or Interpretation;
Commentary on the Fair Credit Reportidgt, 55 FR 1880481, 183818 (May 4,
1990). Gustafson maintains that the doudaries were not accurate and thus t
FCRA does not allow the reporting in theanner done by SST. But any inaccurg
in reporting is not privately acinhable per § 1681s-2(c)(150 even if Gustafson wer
correct that FCRA does not allow the tivadelines that SST included on her repc
she may not maintain her claifior those alleged violations.

The Court thereforeGRANTS SST's Motion WIHTOUT LEAVE TO
AMEND with respect to any of Gustafson’s o for violations of § 1681s-2(a) ¢
for double reporting. The CouRENIES the Motion on all other FCRA ground
including violation of § 1681s-2(b).

B. FDCPA

Congress enacted the FDCPA to elimmabusive debt collection practicg
including the harassment and abusecohsumers. 15 U.S.C. § 1692(e). *
effectuate this purpose, the Act prohib#as‘debt collector’ from making false @

misleading representations and from engg in various abusive and unfai
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practices.” Izenberg v. ETS Servs., LL689 F. Supp. 2d 1193, 1198 (C.D. C
2008); 15 U.S.C. 88 1692(d)—(f).

Gustafson alleges that SST violatddree different FDCPA provisions:

88 1692d, 1692e, and 1692{Compl. T 25(a)—(c).) &&tion 1692d prohibits a del
collector from engaging in “any conductetinatural consequence of which is
harass, oppress, or abuse g®yson in connection with the collection of a del
Neither may a debt collector “use any faldeceptive, or misleading representation
means in connection with the collection olyadebt,” such as falsely representing f{
character or legal status tife debt or threatening tok& an action that cannot b
legally done. 8§ 1692e. Further, the GA proscribes thaise of “unfair or
unconscionable means to collect or attemptollect any debt,” including collectin
any amount not permitted by law. § 1692f.

Citing to Kohut v. Trans Union LLCNo. 04 C 2854, 2004 WL 1882239 (N.D.

lll. Aug. 11, 2004), SST argues that “it /ot ‘false, deceptive, or misleading’ {

report that a consumer faildd pay a debt after it wertb collection when that

consumer also failed to pay the dékfore it went to collection.’ld. at *2. SST thus
recapitulates its argument that double répgr—such as the two tradelines f
SST/Synovus and SST/CIGPFI—is not actionable under the FDCPA.

But Gustafson distinguishdsohut pointing out that unlike in that case, t
parties here dispute whether the tradeliaes accurate in the first place. Gustafs
also cites her own case which establisttet a furnisher double reporting the sa
debt could be actionable under the FDCP8ee Morris v. Risk Mgmt. Alternative
Inc., 203 F.R.D. 336, 339 (N.D. 1I2001) (finding only that double reporting createg
common legal question sufficient for class certification).

SST's reliance oKKohutis misplaced. In that casthe court specifically noteg
that “the parties agree[d] that [the furnisher’s] report was accurate.” 2004
1882239, at *2. But here, Gustafson digs whether the two tradelines we
accurate. If she is correctaththe double entries are not accurate, then that repg
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would constitute a “false, deceptive, orsieading representation” actionable ung
the FDCPA.See8 1692e. SST also does not digpGlustafson’s 88 1692d and 169
allegations. The Court accordindDENIES SST’s Motion on all FDCPA grounds.
C. RFDCPA

The California Legislature explicitly incporated the FDCPA's provisions inf
the RFDCPA, including the proscriptions 8§ 1692d—f. Cal. CivCode § 1788.17
SST simply reiterates its FDCPA arguments with respect to Gustafson’s RFI
claim. Since the Court denied SST's Muotiwith respect to the federal claim, tl
Court similarlyDENIES SST’s Motion on all RFDCPA grounds.
D. CCCRAA

Gustafson also alleges that SST vieththe CCCRAA. The Act provides that
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“person shall not furnish information onspecific transaction or experience to any

consumer credit reporting agsnif the person knows or should know the informat
Is incomplete or inaccurate.” Cal. C@ode § 1785.25(a). This section’s commar
are “nearly identical” to thasin § 1681s-2(a) of FCRAGorman 584 F.3d at 1172.
While FCRA expressly preempts any staequirements or prohibitions wit
respect to the subject matter regulat@ader 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a), Congrg

specifically exempted California Civil Codgection 1785.25(a) from preemption.

This exclusion works a strange result. pRintiff may not bring a private action t
enforce violations relating to inaccuratdormation under FCRA, but she may brir
one on the same basis undexr ®CCRAA. Equally as straagwhile a plaintiff may
bring a failure-to-investigate clainunder FCRA, Congress did not exen
CCCRAA's failure-to-investigate provision from preemptio@arvalho v. Equifax
Info. Servs., LLC629 F.3d 876, 889 (9th Cir. 201(Holding that FCRA preempt
section 1785.25(f) relating toifare to investigate upon receipt of dispute notice fr
a credit-reporting agency).

SST argues that Gustafson’'s CCCRAAiIrl fails with her FCRA claim ang
that the “record” contradicts her failure-tovestigate claim. SST also points out t
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FCRA preempts CCCRAA’s attempt to grdate failures to investigate. Bl
Gustafson contends that her CCRAAinis relies upon section 1785.25(a), wh
Congress saved from theggmption chopping block.

To the extent that Gustafson bringsfailure-to-investigate claim under th
CCCRAA, FCRA preempts that claim. The Court tlkRANTS SST's Motion on
that groundWITHOUT LEAVE TO AMEND . But Gustafson’s litany of false
information allegations survives KRA preemption and is actionable und
section 1785.25(a). The Court accordinQEgNIES the Motion on this basis.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above, the GBRANTS IN PART andDENIES
IN PART SST’s Motion to Dismiss as enumerdtabove. (ECF No. 14.) Since t
Court denies leave to amend on the grouiedsvhich it grants SST’'s Motion, SS
shall file its answer to the Complaint within 14 days.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

May 21, 2014

p . -
Y 707
OTIS D. WRIGHT, I
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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